





# KNOWLEDGE BASE FOR THE ERASMUS+ PROJECT VOICES OF WOMEN (VOW) LILLI MITTNER, LISE MELING, JANKE KLOK, BETTINA SMITH

HTTPS://WWW.VOICESOFWOMEN.EU

Lilli Mittner, Lise Meling, Janke Klok, Bettina Smith UiT The Arctic University of Norway Septentrio Academic Publishing <u>https://septentrio.uit.no/</u> Septentrio Reports, No 1, 2022 <u>https://doi.org/10.7557/7.6569</u>

© Lilli Mittner, Lise Meling, Janke Klok, Bettina Smith All material in this report, except third-party material, is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons</u> <u>Attribution 4.0 International</u> License.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements III
SummaryIV
The VOW – project
Research Infrastructures
Norway6
1.1 The Netherlands7
1.2 Germany
2 Educating Agents of Change
3 VOW Approach1
3.1 Performative Research
3.2 Unheard Songs
3.3 Cultural Transfer
3.4 Feminist Theories
5 VOW Roadmap
References

# Acknowledgements

This report is the result of joint dialogue efforts and knowledge exchange between researchers working within the field of music and gender across Europe. We would like to thank especially the VOW team Lena Haselmann, Friederike Wildschütz, Petra Broomans, Kristin McGee, Anne-Lise Sollied, and Kate Maxwell for important contributions to this report. We further thank Maren Bagge, Hilde Blix, Astrid Kvalbein Katrin Losleben, Hedda Smedheim Bjerklund, and Dragana Lukic for reading and commenting on the report. The report also benefits from vivid discussions with our students as well as members of the group Contemporary Gender Research (ConGen), the research group at the Centre for Women's and Gender Research, the research group Multimodality, Art, and Gender in Interdisciplinary Communication (MAGIC), and the research forum at the Academy of Music at UiT The Arctic University of Norway.

# Summary

This report builds the knowledge base for the transnational educational project 'Voices of Women' (<u>https://voicesofwomen.eu</u>) funded by the European Union. The report situates the VOW project within music and gender research in Norway, The Netherlands, and Germany. It argues for the need to educate agents of change and outlines the VOW approach along four pillars: (1) Performative Research (2) Unheard Songs (3) Cultural Transfer and (4) Feminist Theories. The report documents that transformative pedagogies and innovative practices in the cultural sector can build on a broad knowledge base. The next step is to develop novel methods to educate ourselves and upcoming generations to become active and courageous agents of change.

# The VOW – project

Voices of Women (VOW) is a transnational educational project funded by the EU program ERASMUS+. The project aims to strengthen and ensure women's rightful place in the historical, contemporary, and future arenas of music production. By bringing the voices of women composers and the voice of those performing or programming art songs to the forefront, VOW aims at raising cultural awareness anchored in historical heritage which has not received its fair share of attention, analysis, interpretation, or performance. This report builds the knowledge base for planned actions within the VOW project period 2022-2024 and beyond. Providing an overview of research on women and music in Norway, Germany, and The Netherlands is crucial to develop knowledge-based education and training programmes. By bringing intersectional perspectives into questions related to 'women and music' it is important to note that research in this field has been primality conducted by white, middle-class women who had and have access to bourgeois classical music practices.

There is a variety of initiatives and policy documents at the European level that impact both structures and practices within the cultural and creative sector. The European Union Gender Equality Strategy was specifically adapted for the field of culture in 2020, underlining 'the potential of culture to advance gender equality and acknowledge persistent gender inequalities in the sector' (Presidency Conclusion on Gender Equality in the Field of Culture 2020). The action specifically following fields of are highlighted EU policy by (https://ec.europa.eu/culture/policies/selected-themes/gender-equality):

- 1. equal access to the cultural and creative labour market
- 2. equal payment and representation in creative and decision-making positions
- 3. equal appreciation and recognition of work
- 4. gender stereotyping and sexual harassment and abuse remain major concerns

The VOW project addresses specifically point 3: *equal appreciation and recognition*. Through initiatives such as <u>Culture Action Europe</u> or the structured dialogue Voices of Culture (<u>https://voicesofculture.eu/</u>), the European Commission supports specifically transnational initiatives on gender equality in the field of culture and promotes the collection and distribution of culture-specific data on gender equality and cultural diversity in Europe. The report *Towards* 

*Gender Equality in the Cultural and Creative Sector* (Menzel et al. 2021) underlines the importance of data and key challenges connected to stereotypes, and the use of culture, media, education, and research are recommended to promote gender equality in society at large. Within the field of music this double function of bringing arts-based knowledge and methods into gender equality work and simultaneously building more gender equal societies through art education (Mittner, Meling and Maxwell, forthcoming) have been addressed by a variety of initiatives across Europe (e.g. <u>Women in Music, KeyChange, Kvast - The Swedish Association of Women Composers</u>).

### **Research Infrastructures**

The following overview over research infrastructures in the field of women and music in Norway, The Netherlands and Norway is far from complete, but rather a selection of initiatives and projects in the field that are specifically relevant to the VOW project. All learners within the VOW project are expected to familiarize themselves with existing perspectives within the field of music and gender. Thus, mapping the state of the art within the field functions as a tool for self-educating process. The projects listed below are based on a selection made by members of the VOW consortium. Through masterclasses, workshops, lectures, and the creation of other educational materials, we will further draw and expand on that knowledge base.

#### Norway

The research tradition in Norway on women in music as a social group reach back to the first half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century (Lindhjem 1931; Dahm 1987; Herresthal 1993; Lorenzen and Stavrum 2007; Kvalbein and Lorentzen 2008; Mittner 2016; Meling 2014). In addition, there have been several individual case studies on Norwegian composers within music historiography (e.g. Hambro 2008; Haselmann 2018; Kvalbein 2013; Skovdal 2021) as well as a variety artistic research projects (e.g. Rønning and Waagard 2016; Lund et al. 2017; Smith 2021; Sollied forthcoming).

From 2015 to 2018 the research and intervention project *Gender Balance in Higher Arts Education* was funded by the Research Council of Norway and UiT The Arctic University of Norway with 6 million Norwegian kroner to promote gender balance in top level positions in the field (<u>https://site.uit.no/balanse-kunstfag/</u>). The project resulted in four research papers (Blix and Mittner 2018; Blix et al. 2018; Mittner and Blix 2021; Mittner et al. 2022), a research

film (Mittner and Bergli 2018) and a variety of creative gender equality measures (Blix and Mittner 2019). The conference "Music and Gender in Balance" initiated the anthology *Gender Issues in Scandinavian Music Education: From Stereotypes to Multiple Possibilities* (Onsrud et al. 2021). A variety of initiatives and campaigns driven by activists have based their action on music and gender research such as for example the national association Balansekunst (https://balansekunstprosjektet.no/), consisting of about 100 organizations, companies, festivals and other institutions within the art and culture industry working to promote gender equality and diversity in the arts.

### 1.1 The Netherlands

A lecture given by Marcia Citron at the Seventh International Congress on Women in Music in Utrecht 29 May-2 June 1991 (Citron 1991) sparked various music and gender research activities in the Netherlands (Metzelaar 2002; Boumans 2015). A central player was the Women and Music Foundation (Stichting Vrouw en Muziek) that offers an overview of female composers (http://www.vrouwenmuziek.nl/en/composers/). However, since Prof. Helen Metzelaar retired, the foundation is no longer active. More recently there has been a research focus on the music of women within modern, popular music such as the project 'Women Assistants and Male Executives? Understanding Gender Barriers in the Dutch Music Industry' lead by Kristin McGee at the Centre for Gender Studies at University of Groningen (McGee 2022). A recent PhD project that begun in 2020 by Maryan Wynia is investigating the gender gap in the Dutch music industries. A major event in music and gender research in the Netherlands was the final Conference Female Assistants and Male Producers: Exploring Gender Barriers in the Dutch *Music Industry* at the University of Groningen in 2019 organised by the KIEM project: Knowledge Creative (https://www.gender and Innovation for the Industry musicindustry.net/index.php/about-kiem).

A Dutch female conductor was the focus of the film ...But I was a girl. The story of Frieda Belinfante (1999), directed by Toni Boumans. This film tells the story of Frieda Belinfante (1904-1995), the first female conductor to have her own symphony orchestra in the Netherlands and later in Orange County, United States. In 2021 a podcast 'Nooit van gehoord' (Never heard of her) on forgotten women composers was launched on the Dutch radio, NPO4, by Andrea van Pol and Rae Milford. In short contributions, the podcast presents forgotten female composers by streaming their music. In 2021, the podcast presented 26 female composers. On March 25th, 2022, they started a second series.

### 1.2 Germany

Germany played a major role in music education and cultural transfer in 19<sup>th</sup> and 20<sup>th</sup> centuries and their geo-cultural and political position are still reflected in today's research infrastructure. Within the German-speaking research community, scholarly writing about women and music coincides with the emergence of feminist musicology (e.g. Rieger 1981; Hoffmann 1991; Grotjahn 2002; Borchard 2003; Rode-Breymann 2007). In 2000, the first professoriate in musicological gender research was established in Detmold/Paderborn. The same year, Eva Rieger, a professor in music education, founded together with the German-Swiss patron, Mariann Steegmann, the Mariann-Steegmann-Foundation which is dedicated to the advancement of women in music and the arts. This foundation funds both the Mariann Steegmann Institute of Art & Gender at the University of Bremen and the Research Center for Music and Gender at the Hanover University of Music, Drama, and Media. The Music and Gender series have been published annually since 2008 by the German Musicological Society (GfM) subgroup Women and Gender studies. Music and Gender research has been institutionalised within the Research Center for Music and Gender in Hanover (https://www.fmg.hmtm-hannover.de/de/start/), the Women Composer Library in Unna (https://www.komponistinnenbibliothek.de/), the Sophie Drinker Institute in Bremen (https://www.sophie-drinker-institut.de/startseite), and the Online Database MUGI (https://mugi.hfmt-hamburg.de/content/index.xml). Together with a variety of libraries and archives that preserve music-related materials (published and unpublished scores, letters, diaries, reviews etc.), these institutions have built a strong knowledge base and research culture on women and music.

### 2 Educating Agents of Change

Existing expert knowledge and practices, long lists of tips and tricks, networks, and communities seem to have had little impact on contemporary heritage practices when it comes to hearing the voices of women. We wonder why and thus explore together with our students what is at stake when music created by women is discussed, performed, enacted, and listened to. A major challenge that still needs to be addressed is a lack of knowledge of the repertoire. Despite huge libraries and databases collecting music written by women and accessible open access to information, a small amount of music composed by women enters the curriculum in music education or is regularly performed on concert stages. A major shortcoming in art education specifically is the fact that time pressures in programming, staging, and practising often leave gender perspectives as an add-on behind more obvious questions concerning style, interpretation, or mastery.

The outspoken need for transformation and change seem to lead to more off-beat action in terms of developments within transformational research such as critical pedagogy, postcolonial studies, and feminist theories. Many training and education programmes still rely on the idea that music education should stick to a given canon, or that performance of art song can be seen as completely separated from contemporary societal issues. There are few educational programmes that question the 'making of the canon' and relate cultural practices to notions of power and representation. This applies equally for leaning outcomes. The integration of musical repertoire created by women in music training modules in higher education is still far from completed. There have been individual initiatives, and these have led to long-lasting structural change (Mittner 2018). Most initiatives, however, stay on a local level and seem to have little impact on heritage practices across communities. Thus, we see a need for transnational cooperation which is challenging due to language, national narratives that are still leading in translational communication and last but not least, due to a lack of time, resources, and possibilities to 'sing and talk'.

Finally, a major challenge in the research field of music and gender is that arts-based practices, arts education, and artistic research are often disconnected, and interdisciplinary communication across languages and cultures becomes difficult. Therefore, there is a need to clarify epistemologies, research methods, ethics, and dissemination strategies within the performative paradigm (Østern et al. 2021).

The VOW project addresses the following needs:

- The need to provide arts (e.g. music) training within higher education (conservatoire, etc.) programmes in which art making is enmeshed in the social realities of the modern world. Where the arts have been segregated from the society within which they exist, action must be taken to reverse such segregation.
- The need to better understand different national practices, policies, and systems in education and training in our field (women's voices in the arts), thus reinforcing our own cooperation as a consortium and future network.
- The need to provide increased motivation and satisfaction in the daily work of VOW researchers and artists, something which will be achieved by contextualizing our work within international research.
- The need to continuously develop more attractive, innovative education and training programmes, including new approaches to addressing social/cultural diversity in dialogue with community and private organizations in different fields or in other socio-economic sectors (through multiplier events with policymakers and stakeholders from beyond the arts).
- The need to develop, implement and assess specific learning outcomes related to the integration of musical repertoire created by women in music training modules in higher education.
- The need for transnational cooperation and the corresponding need for the establishment of an international network, which will be one of the main outcomes of VOW.

### 3 VOW Approach

VOW aims to educate agents of change. This will occur through masterclasses, concerts, CD releases, interviews, media appearances (for example the Norwegian Broadcasting Service's programme "Spillerom"), as well as theoretical approaches and the evaluation of the repertoire's impact on the agents of change. The VOW project's approach and methodology relies on a mixture of several interrelated activities, including conferences, training courses, lectures, workshops, cultural exchange activities, online-teaching, dissemination, handling historic source materials, implementation actions, evaluation and quality assurance activities, and evaluation seminars. In order to train all learners involved in the VOW project to become agents of change the project addresses the knowledge gaps and needs outlined above through the following interrelated activities: 1) privileging knowledge creation through artistic practices 2) unlocking unknown, unperformed, unsung, unpublished music 3) translating and transferring cultural heritage through interdisciplinary communication 4) training critical thinking practices and feminist wonderings.

### 3.1 Performative Research

The method of the VOW project can be categorized within the performative research paradigm (Østern et al. 2021) under the umbrella of artistic practice – other terms could be artistic research or arts-based research. These research methods refer to an open form of research in and through the arts. Artistic research and practice can be viewed as a way of thinking where new and original knowledge is created. In its midst we find the methodology in the middle of the art itself. It explores all its possible relations by means of communicating, reflecting upon, and sharing with others in a process-oriented way. VOW will take as its point of departure an arts-based pedagogy. We believe that through arts-based pedagogy and artistic practices it is possible to upset dominant social norms, train an openness to the unexpected, and challenge binary propositions by privileging the chaos. As many places in society are characterized by inequality, the arts can act as a creative space in which the unforeseen can become possible and where seemingly fixed positions can be negotiated, un-performed, and re-enacted. At the core of arts-based pedagogies is dialogue, where all learners are actively engaged with materials and processes, as well as with each other. By being engaged in social processes, learners can construct new knowledge by combining new and old knowledge and experience. For example,

students can analyse women's roles and the representations of women in classical music, which is a way to encourage social change. Wang, in her article about the socially engaged practices of artists in China, put forward 'the idea of the artist as an intellectual who bears responsibility for cultural critiquing and social change' (Wang 2017, 34).

Music making has the possibility to create meaningful meetings with people, where we share music, musical instruments, bodies, voices, stage, and audience - this can be viewed as a method of participating in and performing a community. It is natural to assume that student knowledge and attitudes are impacted by the lack of exposure to music made by, for example, female composers. The greater the exposure to composers of all genders, the greater the knowledge. Exposure to unheard music, however, does not provide more knowledge of female composers. VOW as a pedagogical approach can therefore create a more inclusive society by showing the breadth of composers, as well as showing that gender need not be even an implicit factor in deciding creativity or quality. The VOW project lays a claim to innovation as it tackles a current societal challenge and cutting-edge developments in the arts to change and establish a more inclusive canon within the classical singing repertoire. This is crucial because there is transferability to other areas of the arts and beyond. In this sense, we are decolonizing the arts in order to understand a) who defines a canon, b) how a canon is created, c) do we need a canon at all and d) what would a broader, more inclusive canon mean so that we can lay the foundation for how other art forms can interact with societal challenges in a system - to a greater extent than they are today.

The Voices of Women (VOW) project will also build upon other artworks created by women and the research and popular literature which explores, documents, and disseminates knowledge about women's artistic processes. As such, VOW will provide a much-needed interdisciplinary space in which higher education institutions and general public can become more acquainted with the rich traditions of women's art (e.g. composition, visual art, theatrical works) and that art's role in the past and future capacities to facilitate the implementations of social equity and inclusion.

In addition to arts-based practices, this task also intersects with feminist practices. It builds on the encounters, conversations, and academic practices that unfold when students and staff from the four participating universities meet. We will conceptualize what feminist and aesthetic perspectives have in common and how they together can put forward the 'women in music' question. Central to this task will be a situated art intervention approach that allows us to better understand and simultaneously change normative complexities.

#### 3.2 Unheard Songs

One of the project's main goals is to promote women composers and make their music heard: the majority of music they have composed is, as of yet, unheard. The consequence of music not being readily available is that it is not performed. It is important to note the difference between 'unheard' and 'unpublished' music. There is a lot of published music by women composers, but much of it is difficult to access. Some of the repertoire is not for sale. Some of it is in private hands. Even though some of it is available in libraries and archives, it needs to be uncovered and 'found.' Therefore, one has to know what one is looking for, and where, when searching for this music, while it is also true that it is difficult to know where to look. The German publisher *Furore Verlag* plays in that sense a crucial role as it only publishes the work of women composers. Even though some of these composers were already published, and successfully so and even sold extensively in their time (e.g. Cécile Chaminade), it is difficult to get hold of their music today. As we consider music, and the arts more generally, as having the potential to reveal aesthetic experience on the part of both creator and listener, we can conclude that ignoring the performance of music by women composers would ignore the fundamental role that women play in creating aesthetic experiences.

VOW will implement active searches for music in relevant literary and other sources, lectures, distributing music by women composers actively to higher education students, and the development of a higher education course module, 'Voices of Women.' Thus, the project assumes the responsibility of the performer: if we do not do it, then who should? Indeed, would-be performers of this repertoire often encounter refusals on the part of concert organizers, as the latter tend to opt for 'safe' choices in the form of music that audiences are well acquainted with, thereby assuming that audiences are not interested in hearing unknown music composed by women.

By introducing future generations to music by women composers in the same manner as we introduce them to male composers' music, our hope is to make the question of the composer's gender less relevant, rendering male composers and their female counterparts as equals in all senses. We hope that music by women composers will gain its deserved place in the canon and in concert halls, opera houses, and festivals worldwide.

### 3.3 Cultural Transfer

VOW will inter alia disclose and manifest the workings of artistic women that through their art became agents of change and cultural transmitters (Broomans and Klok 2019). The field of cultural transfer thus becomes an important area of research. The project examines how musical and music educational exchange in Europe appeared to have been a contact zone for women artists and transmitters, be it composers, performers, teachers, conductors, or writers. Examining this contact zone within cultural transmission- including biographical research will disclose networks of artistic women, how they influenced each other and as such became agents of change in Europe. An interesting aspect in this regard is how the crossing of national borders – for example from Norway and the Netherlands to Germany and vice versa – often meant a renewal of the cultural and musical scene on both sides of these borders. The large group of Norwegians, often very young and eager women, sought and found a musical education in Germany that they could not get in Norway, for example, changed the educating staff at the institutions in Berlin by becoming the first women teachers, while they on the other hand established quite a progressive musical landscape in Norway when they returned. With their performances in Paris, London, Leipzig, and Vienna (among others) they paved the way and became models of new possibilities for women artists in the countries they visited.

In examining the field of cultural transmission, biographical research is an important tool in the process of disclosing. To share the results of this research, and to engage with colleagues and students in the works of these artists, RESCAPE developed the method of 'dramatic assemblage,' a form of creative research based on ego documents (journals, letters, postcards, notes etc.), non-fictional texts, compositions, poems, stories, and other art-related forms (Haselmann, Klok, Mittner 2019, 2021). In the VOW-project the RESCAPE method will be practised and developed. The artistic works of women, their networks, together with other results from both examining the contact zone for women artists and transmitters and the RESCAPE method, will be described in the VOW-roadmap for the promotion of Voices of Women.

### 3.4 Feminist Theories

A set of theories can help to make sense of why curriculum transformation and social change in general happens so slowly (Valian 1998, Ahmed 2017, Fraser, 2020). Feminist research in general and feminist musicology in particular indicate the very heart of the unbalanced power relations and problematic cultural practices that resist social change. If the voices of women are to be heard, someone needs to listen (Björck 2011). For the VOW project this means that audiences play a crucial role. To become part of the collective memory, music composed by women needs to be performed on stage and alongside a discussion of 'what we listen to, how we listen to it, how much we listen to it and what the messages are' (Hilde Blix in Mittner and Bergli 2018).

As we work together with our students, critical pedagogies, feminist values, and theories (the self, the curriculum, the learning community, and broader social change) are at the heart of the project. 'Transformative learning involves experiencing a deep, structural shift in the basic premises of thought, feelings, and actions.' (O'Sullivan et al. 2002, 22). Feminist work on transformative learning provides the tools for encounter frictions, unpredictability, normative complexities, but also resistance, confrontation, and unlearning. Thus, the VOW project creates space for transformative learning in the sense of the 'tentacular classroom' (Branlat et al. 2022). Feeling and sensing what happens when previously legitimate knowledge is questioned and grappling with theoretical frameworks and transformative pedagogical practices need the time and trust within musical contact zones that the VOW project will enable.

## 5 VOW Roadmap

Based on the knowledge we have so far, and the VOW approach outlined above, we have drafted the following roadmap for the coming three years. We envision creating musical contact zones that enable us to become agents of change, refining new repertoire, and building an international VOW network (including researchers, artists, teachers, policymakers, activists etc.) based on knowledge exchange and cultural transfer.



#### Fig. 1: VOW Roadmap and planned activities for the project period 2022-2024.

The project incorporates the following activities:

- 1. Performing repertoire created by women composers in 19th and 20th century in Europe.
- 2. **Familiarizing** higher education students, music and art audiences, and the general public, with musical works created by women.
- 3. Training students and others to become active agents of change.
- 4. Creating a roadmap to curriculum transformation and social change in arts education.
- 5. **Establishing** a network of artists, researchers, policymakers and other stakeholders who would like to contribute to ensuring women's rightful place in the historical, contemporary, and future arenas of artistic production.

By developing and providing higher educational material based on art experimentation, VOW will implement interconnected, international, inclusive, and innovative training of higher education students. VOW is based on the idea that to provide social innovation, we need to educate agents of change who can act towards more gender equal societies. VOW will provide research-based opportunities for professional development for all who are interested in exploring performative, theoretical, analytical, social, managerial, and educational impacts of gender equality.

### References

- Ahmed, S. (2017). Living a feminist life. Duke University Press.
- Björck, Cecilia. 2011. *Claiming Space : Discourses on Gender, Popular Music, and Social Change.* Göteborg: Academy of Music and Drama, University of Gothenburg.
- Blix, Hilde, and Lilli Mittner. 2019. "Kjønn Og Skjønn I Kunstfagene: Et Balanseprosjekt." UiT Norges arktiske universitet, Musikkonservatoriet.

https://munin.uit.no/bitstream/handle/10037/16593/article.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y.

- Blix, Hilde Synnøve, and Lilli Mittner. 2018. "Balansekunst i utøvende musikkutdanning." *Tidsskrift for kjønnsforskning* 42 (01–02): 104–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.18261/issn.1891-1781-2018-01-</u>02-07.
- Boumans, Toni. 2015. *Een Schitterend Vergeten Leven : De Eeuw van Frieda Belinfante.* Amsterdam: Uitgeverij Balans.
- Branlat, Jennifer, Juan Velasquez, and Ingvil Hellstrand. 2022. "Tentacular Classrooms: Feminist Transformative Learning for Thinking and Sensing." *Journal of Transformative Education*, February. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/15413446211068556</u>.
- Borchard, Beatrix. 2003. "Lücken Schreiben. Oder: Montage Als Biographisches Verfahren." In *Biographie. Annäherungen an Den Gegenwärtigen Forschungs- Und Diskussionsstand*, edited by Hans Erich Bödeker, 213–41. Göttingen: 2003.
- Broomans, Petra, and Janke Klok, eds. 2019. *Travelling Ideas in the Long Nineteenth Century: On the Waves of Cultural Transfer*. Eelde: Barkhuis Publishing.
- Citron, Marcia J. 1991. "Beyond Biography: Seventh International Congress on Women in Music Utrecht, the Netherlands 29 May-2 June 1991. Music and Gender Conference King's College, London 5-7 July 1991." *Journal of Musicology: A Quarterly Review of Music History, Criticism, Analysis, and Performance Practice* 9 (4): 533–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/763875</u>.
- Commission, European, Youth Directorate-General for Education, Sport, et Culture. 2021. "Towards Gender Equality in the Cultural and Creative Sectors: Report of the OMC (Open Method of Coordination) Working Group of Member States' Experts." Edited by Amelie Menzel. *Publications Office*. <u>https://doi.org/https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2766/122208</u>.
- Council of the European Union. 2020. "Presidency Conclusions on Gender Equality in the Field of Culture." https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-13097-2020-INIT/en/pdf.

- Dahm, Cecilie. 1987. Kvinner Komponerer: Ni Portretter Av Norske Kvinnelige Komponister I Tiden 1840-1930 [Frauen Komponieren: Neun Porträts von Norwegischen Komponistinnen Zwischen 1840-1930] [Women Compose: Nine Portraits of Norwegian Women Composers from 1840 to 1930]. Oslo: Solum.
- Fraser, N. (2020). Fortunes of Feminism: From State-Managed Capitalism to Neoliberal Crisis (p. 352). Verso Books.
- Grotjahn, Rebecca. 2002. Geschlechterpolaritäten in Der Musikgeschichte Des 18. Bis 20. Jahrhunderts. Herbolzheim: Centaurus.
- Hambro, Camilla. 2008. Det Ulmer under Overflaten Agathe Backer Grøndahl (1847-1907); Genus, Sjanger Og Norskhet. Göteborg: University of Gothenburg, Department of Culture, Aesthetics and Media.
- Haselmann, Lena. 2018. Agathe Backer Grøndahl von Norwegen Nach Berlin: Professionelle Musikausbildung Im 19. Jahrhundert. Münster: Waxmann Verlag.
- Haselmann, Lena, Janke Klok, and Lilli Mittner, eds. 2019. "Dat Soll Auch Nicht Jehen, Dat Soll Fahren ..." Norwegische Künstlerinnen in Berlin. Berlin: Nordeuropa-Institut der Humboldt-Universität, Band 25.
- ———. 2021. "Autumn Talk and Ocean Songs Dramatic Assemblage Methods and Relevante of Performative Histography, Kultur, Kunst, Musik." *Musikgeschichte Auf Der Bühne. Performing Music History*.

https://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/9783839457467-021/html.

- Herresthal, Harald. 1993. Med Spark I Gulvet Og Quinter I Bassen Musikalske Og Politiske Bilder Fra Nasjonalromantikkens Gjennombrudd I Norge. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Hoffmann, Freia. 1991. *Instrument Und Körper : Die Musizierende Frau in Der Bürgerlichen Kultur.* 1st ed. Frankfurt am Main: Insel Verlag.
- Kvalbein, Astrid, and Anne Lorentzen. 2008. Musikk Og Kjønn I Utakt? Bergen: Kulturrådet.
- Kvalbein, Astrid. 2013. Musikalsk Modernisering. Pauline Hall (1890-1969) Som Komponist, Teatermenneske Og Ny Musikk-Leiar [Musikalische Modernisierung. Pauline Hall (1890-1969) Als Komponist, Theatermensch Und Neue Musik-Anführer]. Oslo: Noregs Musikkhøgkole.
- Lindhjem, Anna. 1931. Kvinnelige Komponister Og Musikk-Skole-Utgivere I Skandinavien. Frediksstad: Centraltrykkeriet.

- Lorentzen, Anne H., and Heidi Stavrum. 2007. "Musikk Og Kjønn: Status i Felt og Forskning." Bø i Telemark: Telemarksforsking-Bø.
- Lund, Signe, Mon Schjelderup, Agathe Backer Grøndahl, Lena Haselmann, Heide Görtz, Lukas Kowalski, Atle Sponberg, and Sergej Osadchuk. 2017. *Rastlose Lieder - Werke Norwegischer Komponistinnen*. Edited by Lena Haselmann, Janke Klok, and Lilli Mittner. Berlin.
- McGee, Kristin. 2022. "Gendered Interventions in European Jazz Festival Programming: Keychanges, Stars, and Alternative Networks." In *Routledge Companion to Jazz and Gender*, edited by James Reddan, Monika Herzig, and Michael Kahr. New York: Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003081876</u>.
- Meling, Lise Karin. 2014. "Her Story: The Disappearance of Women Composers." *Conference of the International Journal of Arts and Sciences* 7 (3): 49–56.
- Metzelaar, Helen, ed. 1991. Zes Vrouwelijke Componisten. Amsterdam/Zutphen: Centrum Nederlandse Muziek ; Walburg Pers, in samenwerking met Stichting Vrouw & Muziek.
- ———. 2002. "What Happened to Women Composers in Dutch Music History?" Canadian Journal of Netherlandic Studies 23 (1): 1–10.
- Mittner, Lilli. 2016. *Möglichkeitsräume : Studien Zum Kulturellen Handeln Komponierender Frauen* Des 19. Jahrhunderts in Norwegen. Hannover: Wehrhahn Verlag.
  - —. 2018. "'Students Can Have a Really Powerful Role…': Understanding Curriculum Transformation within the Framework of Canon Critique and Critical Pedagogy." *Journal for Research in Arts and Sports Education* 2 (2). <u>https://doi.org/10.23865/jased.v2.928</u>.
- Mittner, Lilli, Hilde S. Blix, and Rikke G. Gürgens. 2022. "Sustainable Gender Equality. Opening the Black-Box of Quality Assessment in Higher Arts Education." In *Gender & Sustainability in a Cultural Perspective*, edited by Astrid Skjerven and Maureen Fordham. Routledge. <u>doi://10.4324/9781003174257-8</u>.
- Mittner, Lilli, and Hilde Synnøve Blix. 2021. "Career Paths in Higher Music Education : Challenges for Gender Equality in the Arts." In *Gender Issues in Scandinavian Music Education From Stereotypes to Multiple Possibilities*, edited by Silje Valde Onsrud, Hilde Synnøve Blix, and Ingeborg Lunde Vestad, 180–96. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003038207-9</u>.
- Mittner, Lilli, and T. Bergli. 2018. "Music and Gender in Balance Film (#MGB18)." Www.youtube.com. Gender Balance in Art Education Project. 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fNBwkiAvOGc.

- Mittner, Lilli, L.K. Melin, and K. Maxwell. (forthcoming). "How Can Art Education Contribute to Reach the Sustainable Development Goal 'Gender Equality' (SDG5)?" *Nordic Journal of Art* & *Research*, (in print).
- O'Sullivan, Edmund. 2002. "The Project and Vision of Transformative Education." In *Expanding the Boundaries of Transformative Learning: Essays on Theory and Praxis*, edited by Edmund O'Sullivan, Amish Morrell, and Mary Ann O'Connor, 1–12. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-63550-4 1.
- Onsrud, Silje Valde, Hilde Synnøve Blix, and Ingeborg Lunde Vestad. 2021. *Gender Issues in Scandinavian Music Education: From Stereotypes to Multiple Possibilities*. ISME Series in Music Education. Milton: Taylor and Francis. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003038207</u>.
- Østern, Tone Pernille, Sofia Jusslin, Kristian Nødtvedt Knudsen, Pauliina Maapalo, and Ingrid Bjørkøy. 2021. "A Performative Paradigm for Post-Qualitative Inquiry." *Qualitative Research*, July. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14687941211027444</u>.
- Rieger, Eva. 1981. Frau, Musik Und Männerherrschaft : Zum Ausschluss Der Deutschen Frau Aus Der Musikpädagogik, Musikwissenschaft Und Musikausübung. Kassel: Furore Verlag.
- Rode-Breymann, Susanne, ed. 2007. Orte Der Musik : Kulturelles Handeln von Frauen in Der Stadt. Vol. 3. Köln: Böhlau.
- Skovdahl, Ingrid. 2021. "«Føreren Kaller!»." *Studia Musicologica Norvegica* 47 (1): 73–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.18261/issn.1504-2960-2021-01-06</u>.
- Smith, Bettina, and Jan Willem Nelleke. 2021, The Artist's Secret. LAWO Classics.
- Sollied, A. (forthcoming). n.d. 50 Shades of XY: A Compendium of Music Created by Women Composers. Norsk musikkforlag.
- Valian, Virginia. 1998. Why so Slow? The Advancement of Women. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press.
- Waagaard, Ivar Anton, and Cecilie Rønning, dirs. 2016. *Glemte Romancer: Norske Kvinnelige Komponister*. Grong musikkproduksjon.
- Wang, Meiqin. 2017. "The Socially Engaged Practices of Artists in Contemporary China." Journal of Visual Art Practice 16 (1): 15–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14702029.2016.1179443</u>.





**UiT** The Arctic University of Norway





Hochschule für Musik
FRANZ LISZT Weimar



**Funded by** the European Union